IN THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT

JASON DIRK WALTON, :  
Appellant, :  
vs. :  
STATE OF FLORIDA, :  
Appellee. :  
\_\_\_\_\_ :

Case No. 65,101

**FILED**

SID J. WHITE

DEC 5 1984

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By *[Signature]*  
Chief Deputy Clerk

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT  
IN AND FOR PINELLAS COUNTY  
STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JERRY HILL  
PUBLIC DEFENDER  
TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

GARY R. PETERSON  
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER

Hall of Justice Building  
455 N. Broadway Avenue  
Bartow, Florida 33830  
(813)533-1184 or 533-0931

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

TOPICAL

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On March 2, 1983, a three-count Indictment was filed in Pinellas County Circuit Court charging Jason Walton with the first degree murders of Steven Fridella, Bobby Martindale, and Gary Petersen. (R20)

Following a jury trial on February 7-9, 1984, Mr. Walton was found guilty of the offenses charged. (R2476) The jury was reconvened the next day for an advisory sentencing hearing and subsequently recommended the penalty of death. (R2518,2680)

On March 14, 1984, after receiving arguments from counsel, the court imposed the death penalty. (R2717) The findings of fact, filed on June 1, 1984, listed five aggravating factors. (R357-363) No statutory mitigating factors were found by the court.

A timely notice of appeal was filed on March 14, 1984. (R327)

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

A. Motion to Suppress

Prior to trial the Appellant, Jason Walton, moved to suppress statements which he had made to the authorities following his arrest. (R92-93) The motion alleged that the statements were obtained in violation of the Appellant's constitutional rights to remain silent and have counsel present during questioning. (R93)

At the ensuing hearing, the evidence established that the Appellant was arrested on the morning of January 20, 1983 at a factory in Marion County where he was employed. (R2731) He was transported to the Marion County Jail and counsel was appointed for the first appearance hearing. (R2732-2733)

Later that day, detectives John Halliday and Ronald Beymer transported the Appellant to the Pinellas County Jail. (R2738-2739) The detectives had been admonished by defense counsel not to talk with the Appellant. (R2734) In addition, the detectives were given a document notifying them of the Appellant's intent to invoke his right to counsel and exercise his right to remain silent. (R2756-2757)

The Appellant testified that at the commencement of the trip the detectives commented that "it would be a long ride without conversation." (R2811) Shortly thereafter, the Appellant inquired as to whether his girlfriend had received his paycheck. (R2740,2811) The detectives replied that she had. (R2740)

A few minutes later the Appellant asked why he had been arrested. (R2741,2769,2811) The detectives responded that they had been admonished by the Appellant's attorney not to discuss

the case with him. (R2741-2742,2769-2770) The Appellant repeated that he wanted to talk with the detectives. (R2742) The detectives advised the Appellant that he would have to sign a waiver of his rights. (R2742-2744) The Appellant signed a written waiver. (R2744)

Detectives Halliday and Beymer testified that after the Appellant waived his rights, he asked them about the charges. (R2747) Halliday advised the Appellant that in addition to the crime charged in the arrest warrant, he would be charged with three other offenses. (R2747) The Appellant replied that they had it "all messed up" and that he was "not the one." (R2747) Halliday asked the Appellant, "Well, what are you talking about?" (R2747) The detective further stated, "Go ahead and continue talking if you wish." (R2747) The Appellant replied that "he didn't do any of the shooting at all" and further responded that, "Whatever anyone else may have told you they're wrong." (R2747, 2772)

At that point detective Halliday inquired, "Well, do you wish to give a statement at this time?" (R2747) The Appellant replied, "Well, yes, I would like to but I really don't want to." (R2747) The detective continued his inquiry by asking the Appellant if he wanted to have the statement recorded. (R2747) The Appellant responded negatively, explaining that he just wanted to "fish around." (R2798)

Detective Beymer testified that Halliday then "asked him numerous questions in reference to the incident" and the Appellant responded. (R2772) These responses revealed that

the Appellant was present and participated in the robbery of the house, but that he was not the triggerman in the murders. (R2125-2132) Following his statement, the Appellant agreed to repeat on tape the matters of which he had already spoken. (R2772)

Thereafter, on January 24, 1983, the detectives initiated an interview with the Appellant at the Pinellas County Jail. (R2753) After obtaining a waiver of rights from the Appellant, the detectives elicited additional incriminating statements. (R2146-2154)

After hearing the aforestated evidence, the trial court entertained arguments from the respective counsel and subsequently denied the Appellant's motion to suppress. (R2845-2846)

#### B. Trial

At the Appellant's jury trial, the prosecution's evidence tended to establish that on the early morning of June 18, 1982, the Pinellas County Sheriff's Department received a telephone call from Chris Fridella. (R1996) Chris, an eight-year old boy, related an incident which had occurred at his residence. (R2090) Pursuant to this telephone call, several officers were dispatched to the residence located in the High Point area of Pinellas County. (R1994,1998,2009)

Upon arriving at the residence, the officers observed three men on the living room floor. (R1994) The men, who were later identified as Steven Fridella, Bobby Martindale, and Gary Petersen, appeared to have expired from gunshot wounds and their wrists were bound behind their backs with duct tape. (R1997, 2030,2047) Chris Fridella, Steven Fridella's son, was found unharmed. (R1995,2091,2110)

The officers further observed that the house had been ransacked, the victims' wallets had been emptied, and the volume on the television set was turned up all the way. (R2014,2089) Five shotgun shells were recovered from outside the doorway, and an additional shell was recovered from just inside the doorway. (R2096,2099-2100)

Dr. Joan Wood, the Pinellas County Medical Examiner, arrived on the scene at 4:30 a.m. and determined the time of death of the three victims to have occurred within the preceding three hours. (R2043,2047) Dr. Wood opined that the deaths had resulted from shotgun wounds in the range of three to six feet. (R2048) Dr. Wood's opinion was consistent with the shotgun wounds having been inflicted from the doorway of the residence. (R2048)

Dr. Wood noted that there had been six shotgun wounds to the three victims: Petersen had been shot once, Martindale twice, and Fridella three times. (R2049) Dr. Wood opined that following the infliction of the wounds the victims would only have remained conscious for a "period of seconds," and further explained:

Talking about thirty, forty seconds even.  
I have no way other than to say there's  
massive destruction incompatible with life  
for more than a minute or two.

(R2072)

On January 14, 1983, approximately six months after the incident, the police received a telephone call from Robin Fridella, Steven Fridella's ex-wife. (R2107,2110) Robin Fridella and her son Chris were living with Jason Walton at his residence

in Hernando County. (R2110) Ms. Fridella supplied the police with information which led to the arrest of Terry Van Royal on January 19, 1983. (R2109-2110) After interviewing Van Royal, the police obtained an arrest warrant for the Appellant.

(R2110)

On the morning of January 20, 1983, Mr. Walton was arrested at the Pall Corporation in Marion County where he was employed. (R2111) Later that day, as he was being transported to the Pinellas County jail, the Appellant made a statement to the police. (R2218,2283)

In his statement, the Appellant indicated that approximately two weeks prior to the incident he had heard that Steve Fridella and Gary Petersen had a substantial amount of money and cocaine at their residence. (R2125) The Appellant subsequently met with Richard Cooper and Terry Van Royal and they planned a robbery. (R2126) On the night of the incident, the trio met at the Appellant's trailer in Citrus County and then proceeded to Fridella's residence in Pinellas County with the Appellant driving. (R2127) The Appellant explained that he was the only one who knew where the house was located. (R2128) He had accompanied Robin Fridella on prior occasions when she had gone to her ex-husband's residence to pick up her children. (R2128)

The trio arrived at their destination at approximately 2:30 a.m. (R2127) The Appellant was armed with a .357 magnum, and Cooper and Van Royal each carried .12 gauge shotguns. (R2128) The Appellant noted that they did not intend to kill anyone but had brought the guns as insurance. (R2300) They each put on ski masks and gloves prior to entering the house. (R2128)

The trio entered the house through an unlocked door. (R2129) Steven Fridella, Gary Petersen and Bobby Martindale were awakened and ordered into the living room. (R2129,2286) Petersen asked, "Is that you J.D.?" (R2287) The Appellant further informed the detectives that although he was known as "J.D.," Petersen's statement "didn't bother me because he just didn't know." (R2287)

The Appellant continued his statement by indicating that the other occupant of the house, Chris Fridella, was placed in the bathroom. (R2130) The Appellant explained that "he didn't want any harm to come to the little boy." (R2131)

The Appellant further advised the detectives that he then proceeded to ransack the house looking for money and cocaine. (R2130) Finding neither, he returned to the living room and observed that Steven Fridella, Petersen, and Martindale were lying face down on the floor with their hands taped behind their backs. (R2130-2131) Van Royal and Cooper were pointing their shotguns at the men. (R2131)

After returning to the living room, the Appellant stated "let's get out of here" and turned up the volume on the television set so that the men could not be heard if they screamed for help. (R2288) Cooper and Van Royal were standing in the doorway as the Appellant exited the house. (R2132) As he stepped outside the door he heard several gunshots. (R2132, 2288) The Appellant ran to the car and waited for the others. (R2132,2288)

The Appellant concluded his statement by noting that Robin and Steve Fridella had been having a legal custody conflict

over their two children. (R2299) The Appellant also stated that Robin had informed him that she and Steve might attempt to get back together. (R2299)

After completing his statement, the Appellant complied with the detectives' request to repeat on tape the matters of which he had already spoken. (R2289) The subsequent taped statement was substantially the same as the initial statement. (R2141, 2288)

After depositing the Appellant at the Pinellas County jail, detectives Halliday and Beymer interviewed Richard Cooper. (R2142) As a result of the Cooper interview, the detectives learned that the Appellant's brother, Jeffrey McCoy,<sup>1/</sup> had also been involved in the incident. (R2145)

Thereafter, on January 24, 1983, the detectives initiated an interview with the Appellant at the Pinellas County Jail. (R2146) After obtaining a waiver of rights from the Appellant, the detectives questioned him concerning his failure to reveal McCoy's participation in the incident. (R2146-2149) In response to the interrogation, the Appellant explained that he had not wanted to get his brother involved. (R2149) The Appellant advised the detectives that McCoy had taped the victims but had left the house and was in the car when the shootings occurred. (R2149-2150)

In response to further interrogation, the Appellant stated that it had been his idea to go to the house and commit

---

<sup>1/</sup> The Appellant had changed his name from McCoy to Walton after his mother remarried. (R2587)

the robbery. (R2153,2295) The Appellant explained that he had been upset because Petersen had ransacked his trailer. (R2153-2154) The Appellant further stated that he had attempted to fire his weapon prior to entering the house to see if it would work but it misfired. (R2152,2296) Once inside the house, the Appellant pointed his handgun at Petersen but did not fire it. (R2153) As he exited the house, the Appellant heard Cooper and Van Royal arguing with the victims. (R2297) After he exited the house, the shooting began. (R2297)

Bruce Jenkins testified that approximately two weeks prior to the incident in question, he had a conversation with the Appellant. (R2192) The Appellant had said he was worried that Robin Fridella was going to end her relationship with him and go back to her ex-husband Steven. (R2193) The Appellant further commented that the "only way he could get [Steven Fridella] off his back was to waste him." (R2196) The Appellant also told Jenkins that Steven Fridella and Gary Petersen had been threatening him and that he was afraid of them. (R2201-2202)

The prosecution rested. (R2313)

The Appellant's motion for a judgment of acquittal was denied and the defense rested without presenting evidence. (R2313,2320)

Following closing arguments, the jury retired for their deliberations and subsequently found the Appellant guilty of the three counts of first degree murder charged in the indictment. (R2476)

C. Penalty Phase

At the penalty phase proceedings before the advisory jury, the prosecutor introduced additional evidence including the confessions of co-defendants Richard Cooper and Jeff McCoy.<sup>2/</sup> (R2521-2550) The Appellant's objection to this evidence was overruled. (R2507-2513,2516)

In his statement, Cooper indicated that it was the Appellant's idea to commit the murders. (R2527) According to Cooper, Appellant ransacked the house and then told him that "We're going to get out of here, but we're going to waste them first." (R2529) Cooper further indicated that the Appellant pointed a handgun at Steven Fridella's head and pulled the trigger several times. (R2529-2530) When the gun failed to fire, the Appellant yelled "Shoot 'em, shoot 'em, shoot 'em" at Cooper and Van Royal. (R2530) Cooper and Van Royal complied. (R2530) Cooper further stated that after he left the house, the Appellant called him back to shoot Steven Fridella again. (R2530)

McCoy's statement also indicated that the Appellant pointed a handgun at Fridella's head and attempted to fire the weapon. (R2541)

The prosecution elicited testimony from Paul Skalnik, a former cellmate of Cooper's. (R2554-2555) According to Skalnik, Cooper had told him that the Appellant was the "ring-leader," and that the Appellant had told Cooper prior to arriving

---

<sup>2/</sup> Cooper and McCoy were awaiting trial on related charges and had indicated that they would invoke their right against self-incrimination if called to testify at the Appellant's trial. (R2511)

at the victims' house that "they were going to eliminate them."  
(R2555) Skalnik further testified that Cooper had told him that  
the Appellant considered the murders to be "a funny joke." (R2558)

The defense presented evidence from several witnesses  
relative to the Appellant's character. The Appellant's former  
landlord stated that Jason Walton was a non-violent, steadily  
employed individual who paid his rent on time and "seemed to get  
along with everybody." (R2567-2568) A co-worker described Ap-  
pellant as a non-violent, law-abiding person and further stated:

J.D. is a very kind and easy person to get along  
with. If anyone had a problem at work, he was  
always the first one to help, to make them feel  
at ease. If there was even, ever an argument  
at work, he was always the first one to say,  
let's talk it over.

(R2778) A friend of the Appellant's family noted that the Ap-  
pellant was a non-violent and friendly person who "seemed to  
get along with everybody. (R2584-2585) The Appellant's mother  
also noted that he was non-violent, and further indicated that  
Mr. Walton had received an honorable discharge from the army.  
(R2593-2595)

In rebuttal, John Saul testified that he had purchased  
an ounce of marijuana from the Appellant on two different occa-  
sions. (R2608-2610)

Detective Halliday testified that the Appellant's name  
had appeared on the funeral register of Gary Petersen, and that  
the Appellant had subsequently purchased Petersen's vehicle.  
(R2612,2616) Halliday further stated that at the time of the  
incident the Appellant was 24 years of age, Van Royal 19, Cooper  
18, and McCoy 18. (R2616)

After hearing the evidence, the advisory jury recommended the death penalty with respect to each count of the Indictment. (R2680)

The trial court subsequently imposed the penalty of death upon Jason Walton. (R2717)

## ARGUMENT

### ISSUE I.

THE USE OF JASON WALTON'S CONFESSIONS AGAINST HIM AT TRIAL VIOLATED HIS RIGHTS UNDER THE FIFTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS WHERE THE POLICE SUBJECTED THE APPELLANT TO CUSTODIAL INTERROGATION AFTER HE HAD EXPRESSED A DESIRE TO DISCONTINUE FURTHER COMMUNICATION.

In Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 86 S.Ct. 1602, 16 L.Ed.2d 694 (1966), the Court held that the mere fact that a suspect may have answered some questions does not deprive him of the right to refrain from answering any further inquiries. Here, the police subjected the Appellant to custodial interrogation after he had expressed a desire to discontinue further communication. Because the police failed to heed the Appellant's request, or at the very least clarify his wishes prior to continuing the questioning, the resultant confessions should have been suppressed.

The police obtained confessions from the Appellant on January 20, 1983, and again on January 24, 1983. The initial confession was elicited while the Appellant was being transported from the Marion County Courthouse to the Pinellas County Jail. During the automobile ride, the Appellant initiated a conversation with the arresting officers, waived his Miranda rights, and subsequently made a few brief exculpatory remarks. Thereafter, one of the officers inquired, "Well, do you wish to give a statement at this time?" The Appellant replied "Well, yes, I would like to but I really don't want to." Thereafter, the

police officer interrogated the Appellant, eliciting a confession.

The interrogation of the Appellant following his indication that he did not want to make a statement, violated the Appellant's constitutional right to remain silent. While the Appellant initially waived his Miranda rights and agreed to talk with the officers, this was not a waiver for all time of the Appellant's right to remain silent. See Torrence v. State, 430 So.2d 489 (Fla.1st DCA 1983). It is clear that an accused may invoke his right to silence at any time, even after interrogation has begun. Peterson v. State, 405 So.2d 997 (Fla.3d DCA 1981). As the Court stated in Miranda v. Arizona:

Once warnings have been given, the subsequent procedure is clear. If the individual indicates in any manner, at any time prior to or during questioning, that he wishes to remain silent, the interrogation must cease. [Emphasis added.]

384 U.S. at 473-474.

In the present case, it is clear that the interrogation of the Appellant did not cease. Accordingly, the issue becomes whether the words "I would like to [make a statement] but I really don't want to," indicate in any manner that the Appellant desired to invoke his right to remain silent. See State v. Wininger, 427 So.2d 1114,1115 (Fla.3d DCA 1983).

The Appellant's words, "I really don't want to" were a response to the police officer's question "do you want to make a statement at this time?" Under these circumstances, it appears that the Appellant's response was, at the least, an indication in some manner that he did not wish to submit to interrogation.

See State v. Wininger, 427 So.2d at 1116; Thompson v. State, 386 So.2d 264,267 (Fla.3d DCA 1980).

Moreover, if the police officer was in doubt about the meaning of the Appellant's response, then further inquiry should have been limited to clarifying the Appellant's wishes. State v. Wininger, 427 So.2d at 1116; Bain v. State, 440 So.2d 454 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983); See also Drake v. State, 441 So.2d 1079 (1983). The appellate court's conclusion in Bain v. State is equally applicable here:

[T]he defendant's constitutional rights were violated when the arresting officer continued questioning after the defendant appeared uncertain about continuing the interrogation.

440 So.2d at 445.

The record indicates that the Appellant's subsequent confession was also obtained in violation of his constitutional rights. On January 24, 1983, four days after the initial interrogation, the police initiated an interview with the Appellant at the Pinellas County Jail. After obtaining a waiver of rights from the Appellant, the police elicited a second confession to the crimes charged.

The January 24 confession was the causally tainted fruit of the Appellant's earlier confession. Harrison v. United States, 392 U.S. 219, 88 S.Ct. 2008, 20 L.Ed.2d 1047 (1968); Harney v. United States, 407 F.2d 586 (5th Cir.1969). Although the police again obtained a waiver of the Appellant's Miranda rights prior to his second confession, this was insufficient to dissipate the taint of the earlier invalid interrogation.

As the Supreme Court stated in United States v. Bayer, 331 U.S. 532, 540, 67 S.Ct. 1394, 91 L.Ed.2d 1654 (1946):

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