IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JASON DIRK WALTON,
Appellant,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,
Appellee.

Case No. 65,101

FILED

SID J. WHITE

JAN 25 1985

CLERK SUPREME COURT

By *[Signature]*
Chief Deputy Clerk

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

JIM SMITH
ATTORNEY GENERAL

ROBERT J. KRAUSS
Assistant Attorney General
1313 Tampa Street, Suite 804
Park Trammell Building
Tampa, Florida 33602
(813) 272-2670

OF COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

RJK/cww

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

As to Issue I:

The trial court properly denied appellant's Motion to Suppress his confession. Initially, it is doubtful whether appellant has properly presented this point for review by this Honorable Court either on the theory of an estoppel or on the basis that appellant failed to specifically object to the issue he now presents before this Court. As to the merits of the Motion to Suppress, it is apparent that appellant initiated the conversations with police officers and validly executed a written waiver of his rights to counsel and to remain silent. Also, appellant never expressed the desire to discontinue his conversations with the police officers.

As to Issue II:

The trial court properly denied appellant's Application for Disqualification of Judge. All documentation required to be submitted with a Motion for Recusal was not done so within the time frame contemplated by Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.230(c) and, therefore, appellant's motion was untimely. The Motion to Disqualify was also facially insufficient inasmuch as appellant offered no allegations to show that he had a well-grounded fear that the trial court was impartial. The fact that the trial court presided over the trial of a co-defendant at which evidence was presented tending to inculcate appellant does not indicate that the trial court has prejudged appellant's case or is prejudiced against appellant.

As to Issue III:

The trial court properly excluded a venirewoman where that prospective juror's views expressed during voir dire evidenced her inability to follow the instructions that would be given by the trial court. Where a juror is unable to return a recommendation of death unless the State proves the defendant's guilt by a standard greater than beyond a reasonable doubt, that juror's views prevent or substantially impair the performance of the duties of that juror in accordance with his instructions and his oath.

As to Issue IV:

The trial court did not err by permitting the State to introduce evidence of a co-defendant's confession during the guilt phase of appellant's trial. Defense counsel raised only a hearsay objection and the evidence introduced was clearly not hearsay inasmuch as it was introduced to show what the contents of an affidavit were, and not for the truth of those contents. Also, appellant never raised the Bruton issue in the trial court which he now asserts in his brief before this Honorable Court. He is thus precluded from obtaining appellate review. Also, should appellant be permitted to pursue this issue in this Court, the instant record reveals that appellant "opened the door" to the testimony that he is now objecting to inasmuch as he attempted to elicit the same information.

As to Issue V:

Appellant is barred from obtaining appellate review or relief with respect to his issue concerning the introduction

during penalty phase of statements made by the co-defendants. Appellant never raised a specific objection concerning the Bruton issue which was the predicate for this Court's opinion in Engle v. State. Additionally, the record of the instant cause reveals that appellant has waived any objection he might have had where a co-defendant was offered for cross-examination purposes at sentencing but appellant advised that cross-examination would not mitigate anything for appellant.

As to Issue VI:

The trial court did not err by failing to instruct the advisory jury that appellant's age could be considered as a mitigating circumstance. The court preliminarily denied the request for an instruction on age being considered as a mitigating circumstance but appellant never requested the court to give that instruction subsequent to the presentation of evidence at the penalty phase. Also, it is absolutely clear that appellant's age of 24 was not a mitigating circumstance and no instruction should be required.

As to Issue VII A:

The evidence adduced during the guilt phase and the penalty phase of appellant's trial supports a finding that a kidnapping of an eight year old child occurred with the intent to terrorize the boy's father. Therefore, the trial court properly found the aggravating circumstance that the capital felony was committed while the defendant was engaged or was an accomplice in the commission of a kidnapping.

As to Issue VII B:

The undisputed evidence shows that one of the victims identified appellant during the course of the criminal episode. Therefore, the trial court properly found as an aggravating circumstance that the capital felony was committed for the purpose of avoiding or preventing a lawful arrest.

As to Issue VII C:

The trial court properly found as an aggravating circumstance that the capital felonies were especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel. The victims were laid face down with their hands bound, in a helpless condition, and were aware of their impending death. The precedents of this Honorable Court reveal that the facts of the instant murders were especially heinous, atrocious, and cruel.

As to Issue VII D:

The trial court did not double two aggravating circumstances. The court validly found that appellant had committed another capital felony and also found that appellant committed murders which were especially heinous, atrocious, and cruel. Inasmuch as the court's findings as to heinous, atrocious, and cruel focused upon the nature of the murders and not the murders themselves, the court committed no error in finding separate aggravating circumstances.

As to Issue VII E:

The trial court heard evidence of appellant's drug-related history and of a burglary committed by appellant. That testimony was sufficient to warrant the rejection of the mitigating

circumstance that appellant had no significant history of prior criminal activity.

As to Issue VII F:

The trial court considered lack of remorse only insofar as to negate possible mitigating circumstances. There is no prohibition to the trial court considering lack of remorse in that context.

As to Issue VII G:

The trial court specifically determined that there are no mitigating circumstances in the instant case. Such a finding reflects that the evidence was found to be not mitigating, not that the trial court failed to consider all the evidence presented.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED APPELLANT'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS WHICH ALLEGED THAT APPELLANT'S CONFESSION WAS UNCONSTITUTIONALLY OBTAINED.

As his first point challenging the validity of his conviction of murder in the first degree, appellant contends that his confession was obtained in a constitutionally impermissible manner. For the reasons expressed below, appellant's first point has no merit.

Initially, your appellee would assert that it is questionable as to whether appellant has properly preserved his first point for appellate review by this Honorable Court. In order to appeal the denial of the pretrial Motion to Suppress it is necessary to lodge an objection to the introduction of the subject matter of the Motion to Suppress (sub judice, appellant's confessions) at trial. Rodriguez v. State, 433 So.2d 1273 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983); Sims v. State, 402 So.2d 459 (Fla. 4th DCA 1981). The instant record reveals that appellant attempted to renew his Motion to Suppress at trial (R 2120, 2139). However, the record also reveals that appellant should be estopped from raising the denial of his Motion to Suppress in this appeal. The following colloquy occurred between counsel and the trial court during trial when the subject of the confessions was raised:

MR. O'LEARY (defense counsel): No, no. He refused to talk, and a Laura Melvin got appointed, a public defender. She told him to shut up. She told Halliday not to talk to him and took him to Citrus for the rest of

the afternoon and then took him to Pinellas County. And ten minutes on the road, he voluntarily waived everything and signed a waiver.

MR. CROW (Assistant State Attorney): I understand that.

THE COURT: How do you want to handle it?

MR. CROW: For the record and for the jury, it's my understanding that you wanted the jury to know that.

MR. O'LEARY: That he waived an attorney and volunteered, yes.

MR. CROW: Well, that initially, the initial delay was after counsel was appointed.

MR. O'LEARY: Yes, yes.

THE COURT: So there is no objection to his going into that at this time?

MR. O'LEARY: No.

... (R 2113, emphasis supplied)

Thus, it appears that defense counsel acknowledges that appellant "voluntarily waived everything and signed a waiver" but then subsequently announced that he was renewing his Motion to Suppress. Appellant should not be permitted to maintain such an inconsistent position and is, therefore, estopped from obtaining appellate review of his motion to suppress. See McPhee v. State, 254 So.2d 406 (Fla. 1st DCA 1971). Appellant cannot advise the court that the jury should know that appellant waived an attorney and yet be permitted to challenge that waiver in this appeal.

Assuming arguendo that this Honorable Court determines that appellant is not estopped from raising the denial of his Motion to Suppress in this appeal, it is still apparent that this point has no merit. In his brief, appellant is primarily relying upon the theory that his statement, "Well, yes, I would like to but I really don't want to" (R 2747), is indicative in some manner that he did not wish to submit to interrogation (Appellant's brief at

page 14). This argument was neither raised in appellant's Motion to Suppress (R 92-93) nor by argument of counsel at the hearing on appellant's Motion to Suppress (R 2829-2846). This Honorable Court has previously recognized that in order for an argument to be cognizable on appeal it must be the specific intention asserted as the legal ground for the motion in the trial court. Steinhorst v. State, 412 So.2d 332 (Fla. 1982). Having failed to present this issue in its present form to the trial court appellant is precluded from obtaining appellate review.

Appellant acknowledges in his brief that he was the one who initiated conversation with the police officers in the automobile (Appellant's brief at pages 13 and 14). Thus, disposition of this issue on the merits is controlled by the substantial body of Florida law which, in essence, stands for the proposition that a criminal defendant can waive the presence of counsel even though he has indicated a prior desire to have counsel. Henderson v. State, ___ So.2d ___ (Fla. 1985), Case No. 63,094, Opinion Filed January 10, 1985 [10 F.L.W. 43]; Jennings v. State, 413 So.2d 24 (Fla. 1982), after remand, 453 So.2d 1109 (Fla. 1984); Delap v. State, 440 So.2d 1242 (Fla. 1983); Waterhouse v. State, 429 So.2d 301 (Fla. 1983); Jackson v. State, 359 So.2d 1190 (Fla. 1978); Witt v. State, 342 So.2d 497 (Fla. 1977), cert. denied, 434 U.S. 935, 98 S.Ct. 422, 54 L.Ed 2d 294, rehearing denied, 434 U.S. 1026, 98 S.Ct. 755, 54 L.Ed 2d 774 (1978). A valid waiver of counsel is effective even though the defendant is represented by counsel and the officers are aware of that fact. Ferguson v. State, 417 So.2d 631 (Fla. 1982); Waterhouse, supra; Witt, supra. The trial court specifically found that appellant was fully and

repeatedly informed of his right to have counsel present during any interrogation and of his right to remain silent but that appellant initiated the conversations in the automobile, a written waiver of counsel was executed by appellant, and the statements were freely and voluntarily given by appellant (R 2845-2846). The trial court's determination of factual matters presented at a motion to suppress hearing comes to this Honorable Court clothed with the presumption of correctness, and evidence and reasonable inferences and deductions derived therefrom must be interpreted in a manner most favorable to sustain the trial court's ruling. McNamara v. State, 357 So.2d 410 (Fla. 1978); Johnson v. State, 438 So.2d 774 (Fla. 1983), cert. denied, ___ U.S. ___, 104 S.Ct. 1329, 79 L.Ed 2d 724 (1984). The trial court's findings sub judice were correct. Additionally, although appellant contends that he has a situation governed by the decision in Edwards v. Arizona, 451 U.S. 477, 101 S.Ct. 1880, 68 L.Ed 2d 378 (1981), such a contention is without merit. It is apparent as per the findings of the trial court that appellant initiated the conversations with the police officers in the automobile. At that time, appellant also executed a written waiver of his right to remain silent and his right to have counsel present during any questioning. The police officers subsequently interviewed appellant in the jail four days later. Once again, appellant was given his Miranda Rights and again appellant executed a written waiver of rights (R 2754). Appellant's contention that this was an initiation of conversation by the police officers so as to invoke the principles of Edwards is simply mistaken. Appellant

had already validly waived his rights to counsel and to remain silent (in the automobile enroute to Pinellas County). No construction of Edwards requires police officials to refrain from conversing with a defendant once that defendant has executed a valid waiver of his rights. Because appellant had validly waived his rights, the police officers were free to converse with appellant until such time as appellant might have reinvoked his right to remain silent and his right to counsel. Appellant having failed to reinvoke his rights, there was no constitutional prohibition to the officers again conferring with appellant, especially in light of the fact that appellant was readvised of his rights and executed a valid written waiver.

Although appellant should be precluded from arguing in this Honorable Court that his remarks required the officers to cease interrogation because of his failure to present that specific issue to the trial court, your appellee is compelled to note that appellant has misconstrued his own statements and has taken them totally out of context. During direct examination by the Assistant State Attorney at the motion to suppress hearing, Detective Halliday was questioned as to whether appellant would permit a taped statement to which the appellant responded, "Well, yes, I would like to but I really don't want to" (R 2747). Appellant immediately responded that he didn't want it tape recorded but that he wanted to talk with the officers and "fish around" (R 2747-2748). It is absolutely apparent that appellant never expressed the desire to discontinue his conversations with the police officers (R 2748). Appellant's first point is totally without merit.

ISSUE II

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT IMPROPERLY DENIED APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR DISQUALIFICATION OF TRIAL JUDGE.

As his second point, appellant contends that the trial court erroneously denied the Motion to Disqualify the Trial Court. For the reasons expressed below, appellant's point must fail.

Initially, your appellee would assert that the Motion for Disqualification filed in the instant cause was untimely so as to require the trial court to deny the motion. Admittedly, the timeliness of the motion was not addressed at the hearing on appellant's Motion to Disqualify but we offer the question to this Honorable Court as an alternative ground for upholding the trial court's ruling. Rule 3.230(b), Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure provides that motions to recuse shall be in writing, certified by counsel of record to be in good faith and accompanied to by at least two supporting affidavits.

Appellant's Application for Disqualification of Judge and Memorandum in Support Thereof was filed on January 27, 1984 (R 196-198). Inasmuch as trial commenced on February 7, 1984, appellant's Application for Disqualification was filed "no less than ten days before the time the case is called for trial." Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure 3.230(c). However, the supporting affidavits were not filed until January 31, 1984 (R 199-206) and the certificate of good faith was not filed until February 1, 1984 (R 208) and, therefore, these documents were not filed at least ten days before trial. Inasmuch as the actual

Motion to Disqualify must be accompanied by the affidavits and the certificate of good faith your appellee would assert that Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.230(c) has not been complied with. Obviously, a motion which is not accompanied by at least two affidavits or a certificate of good faith is facially insufficient warranting the denial of a motion to disqualify. Therefore, inasmuch as the documentation required to complete the motion to disqualify was not submitted within the time frame contemplated by Rule 3.230(c) it is apparent that the motion should have been denied as untimely filed.

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